RECEIVED

12-13-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2014AP002187-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Cross-Appellant,

v.

KYLE LEE MONAHAN,

Defendant-Appellant-Cross-Respondent-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals Affirming the Lafayette County Circuit Court, The Honorable William D. Johnston, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-CROSS-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

ANDREW R. HINKEL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1058128

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1779 hinkela@opd.wi.gov

ISSUE PRESENTED

Kyle Monahan and R.C. were both ejected from R.C.'s car when it crashed. The car had been going roughly 90 miles per hour when it skidded off the road. R.C. died, and Mr. Monahan was eventually charged with causing her death. At trial, witnesses testified that R.C. was driving at the beginning of the trip that led to the crash. The state argued, however, that the two had switched places during a two-minute stop a few minutes before the accident. Mr. Monahan sought to introduce GPS evidence showing the vehicle had been traveling over 100 miles per hour before the stop during which the state claimed he had taken the wheel. The circuit court excluded this evidence. The state subsequently argued to the jury that Mr. Monahan must have been driving during the crash because R.C., who was not from the area, would never drive so fast on unfamiliar roads.

The state has now conceded that Mr. Monahan should have been allowed to present his evidence. The issue presented is whether the court's erroneous exclusion of this evidence was harmless.

The circuit court did not decide this question.

The court of appeals found any error harmless.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Both oral argument and publication are customary for this court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

At around 8:00 p.m. on August 20, 2011, a resident of Dunbarton Road in the Town of Shullsburg heard a car speeding up a hill on the road near his home. (152:7-8). He heard a "pop" and, going to investigate, saw the car upside down. (152:9-10). He also saw a woman, later identified as R.C., lying in a nearby creek. (152:10-11, 44). He called 911. (152:12). Emergency responders eventually located Kyle Monahan lying in a cornfield near the vehicle. (152:25, 33). R.C. died later that night. (2:10).

More than a year passed before the state charged Mr. Monahan with causing R.C.'s death. (2). Mr. Monahan pled not guilty and the case was tried to a jury. (151-56, 160). There was no dispute that Mr. Monahan and R.C. had both been intoxicated. He had a BAC of .14; she .112. (153:173, 179). It was also clear that whoever had been driving had been driving at very high speed just before the crash. (154:69-70).

The sole issue at trial was which of the vehicle's occupants, both of whom were ejected in the crash, had been the driver. The car was R.C.'s; she and Mr. Monahan had taken it to a party at the Leahy residence north of Shullsburg. (2:8; 51:28; 160:47; App. 138). After leaving the party, they returned to Shullsburg in her car. (51:28; App. 138).

The car was equipped with a GPS device. After the crash, police extracted its data. This data showed the car's routes and speed for the entire day leading up to the crash. It also showed that the car stopped for two minutes on Gratiot Street in Shullsburg before continuing to the location, east of town, where the crash occurred. (51:28; App. 138). Two witnesses testified that R.C. was driving when she and Mr. Monahan left the Leahys'. (160:147-48, 157-58). The

state argued to the jury that the two had switched positions during the two-minute stop in Shullsburg. (156:84-85).

At trial, the state introduced testimony about the GPS data covering the last mile the vehicle traveled before the crash, which showed the car accelerating to an average of 96 mph. (154:69-70). But before trial, Mr. Monahan asked the court to let him discuss GPS data from earlier. This data would have shown that the vehicle was traveling at similarly high speeds both before the two-minute stop (when witnesses said R.C. had been the driver) and after. (51:27-29, 61:2-4, 8-9; App. 137-39). The court refused to let the jury hear these facts. (150:25-27; App. 134-136).

This appeal is about the exclusion of that evidence. Its importance can't be understood without understanding the other evidence at trial.

Mr. Monahan's statements

When he was found in the cornfield, Mr. Monahan was unconscious. At trial an EMT testified he stayed unresponsive for some time while being put on a back board, having a protective collar placed around his neck, and being moved up to the roadside. (160:33-35). On regaining consciousness, Mr. Monahan asked several times "what happened" and where R.C. was. (160:36). The EMT later heard Mr. Monahan say "I fell asleep" and "I'll never drink again" (160:37-38); another witness, a sheriff's deputy, testified that the statement was "that is the last time I will drink and drive," though he testified the scene was noisy and he was six feet away. (152:72, 83).

The same sheriff's deputy testified that he asked Mr. Monahan if he was the driver and Mr. Monahan answered that he did not remember. (152:71). Mr. Monahan

asked whether there had been a female in the vehicle. On being told there was, he responded "I probably was driving, then." (152:71). Mr. Monahan also told the deputy he did not remember where they had been coming from. (152:71-72).

A firefighter testified that, while still lying in the cornfield, Mr. Monahan was asked whether he knew where he was and answered "no." (153:10-11). He also did not know how many people were in the car. (153:12). As to who was driving, after being asked several times, Mr. Monahan responded "I was driving, I guess." (153:12).

The Shullsburg police chief testified that he spoke with Mr. Monahan after he was moved to the roadside. (152:37). Mr. Monahan said he had been coming from Shullsburg, from Al Leahy's, and didn't know who the driver was. (152:27).

Another sheriff's deputy testified he had also spoken with Mr. Monahan after he was moved to the roadside. Mr. Monahan was able to tell the deputy that R.C. was the female who had been located, but he did not know if anyone else had been in the vehicle, and could not recall who was driving. (152:44, 47).

A third sheriff's deputy, Michael Gorham, also testified about speaking to Mr. Monahan on the side of the road, after he had been removed from the field. Deputy Gorham said he had asked Mr. Monahan how many people were in the car, to which Mr. Monahan had responded "It depends who's asking." (152:91). Asked again, he responded that there had been two occupants, him and his girlfriend. (152:91). Deputy Gorham testified that he asked Mr. Monahan who was the driver, to which Mr. Monahan responded "I might have been, I guess." (152:91).

Deputy Gorham testified he was then directed by another deputy sheriff to get a more definitive statement from Mr. Monahan, so he reapproached him, this time with an audio recorder running. (152:92). Gorham said he told Mr. Monahan that "We need to be clear about something" and asked how many people were in the car, to which Mr. Monahan responded "two." (152:92). Asked "Were you the driver?" Mr. Monahan replied "Yeah, I guess." (152:92). Deputy Gorham testified that during that conversation, he told Mr. Monahan that a firefighter had seen him driving the car out of Shullsburg. (152:92).

The audio of the conversation was played at trial. It records the exchange as follows:

Gorham: Kyle, we need to be clear about some stuff.

There was only two of you in the car?

Monahan: Yeah.

. . . .

Gorham: OK. One of the firemen said that they saw you driving the car out of Shullsburg – so you were the

driver?

Monahan: Yeah.

Gorham: You were?

Monahan: Yeah.

Gorham: OK. You're not BSing or anything right?

Monahan: I don't think so.

Gorham: You don't think so?

Monahan: [Groans]

[Here the interview briefly pauses, as medical personnel are attempting to insert an IV and Mr. Monahan expresses that he is in pain]

Gorham: Is there anything else that, can you explain what happened?

Monahan: No.

Gorham: You don't remember how the crash occurred?

Monahan: I just remember fuckin' my tires go off the ditch [or "edge;" the recording is unclear] and I could not correct it. [Groans]

Gorham: You remember the tires going off the ... what was that?

Monahan: Can we talk tomorrow?

Gorham: Alright, I'll let the EMT's continue to treat you, OK?

(92:Exh. 12).

Gorham testified that he later interviewed firefighters but did not locate any who had in fact seen Kyle driving the car out of Shullsburg. Gorham maintained, however, that a firefighter he didn't know had told him this at the accident scene. (152:97-98). This firefighter was never found. (152:99).

Mr. Monahan was taken from the crash scene in a helicopter. (154:7, 9). At trial a flight nurse read from her report that "Patient states that he remembers the accident and appears to have full recall of the incident. Patient states that he was the driver of the vehicle and was wearing his seat belt," (154:27-28), though in fact neither Mr. Monahan nor R.C. were wearing their seatbelts. (154:62).

At 12:30 in the morning, Mr. Monahan was taken off sedation briefly in the hospital. (160:9). At trial a nurse read from her notes that after he woke up, he wrote that he remembered the accident, and that he was going too fast over a hill and lost control of the vehicle. (160:9).

Ten days after the crash, Mr. Monahan was interviewed by a state trooper. (153:45). Mr. Monahan told the trooper he had "no idea" who had been driving at the time of the crash. (153:48). At a subsequent interview, he told the trooper that R.C. was an aggressive, "kind of nuts" driver. (153:56).

Crash reconstructions/physical evidence

The state called as an expert a state trooper, certified in reconstruction. who had conducted reconstruction analysis. (154:51). Based on damage to the vehicle, skid marks, furrowing and debris on the ground, the shape of the terrain, and the GPS data, the trooper hypothesized a path for the vehicle from the beginning to the end of the crash. (154:58-65). The trooper opined that the vehicle had been moving between 87 and 98 miles per hour when it began to skid. (154:67, 72). It skidded off the left shoulder and into the ditch, and began to yaw to the left so that the passenger side was leading. (154:66-67). It traveled across the ground sideways for some distance before it "tripped" and began to tumble sideways. (154:108-09). At some point the tumbling became more end-over-end before the vehicle finally came to rest. (154:114).

The trooper also testified the GPS data showed the vehicle traveling an average of 60, 76 and 96 miles per hour on three "segments" of the trip leading up to the crash. (154:69-70).

The trooper testified he believed the occupants would have been moving toward either the front or the passenger side during the crash sequence. (154:108-20). He opined that the passenger would have been ejected first through the open passenger window, and that because R.C. was found closer to where the crash began, she must have been the passenger. (154:130-31, 134). He claimed the driver could not have been ejected first because the passenger would have "blocked" the path through the window. (154:136).

Mr. Monahan presented expert testimony from an engineer who had also analyzed the crash. He opined that either the driver or the passenger could have been ejected first. He noted that the open sunroof provided another port through which the driver could have been ejected during the rollover while the passenger remained in the vehicle. (160:90-95).

The trooper also discussed the condition of the clothing Mr. Monahan and R.C. had been wearing. (154:121). R.C.'s shirt and pants had a great deal of dirt on them, whereas Mr. Monahan's clothing had less. (154:122, 129). From this, the trooper inferred that R.C. was sitting in the passenger seat during the earlier portion of the crash sequence, when the vehicle was "furrowing" and kicking up dirt. (154:126). Mr. Monahan's expert noted the dirt was on both R.C.'s inner and outer clothing and on the back of her pants, and that there were dirt and grass stains on both the outside and inside of her shirt. This meant the dirt relied on by the trooper would not have come from a "spray" through the passenger window—more likely it got on her clothing after her ejection from the vehicle as she tumbled. (160:96-99).

The trooper also noted the position of the front seats of the vehicle; specifically, that the driver's seat was further back than the passenger's. (154:129; 153:92). R.C. was between five feet five inches and five feet eight inches tall; Mr. Monahan is between six feet and six feet one inch tall. (154:130; 152:143). R.C.'s mother testified that R.C. always sat with her seat as close to the steering wheel as possible. (155:115). Mr. Monahan's expert explained that he had located a vehicle of the same year, make and model as R.C.'s, and had adjusted the steering wheel and seats to match their locations in the crashed vehicle. (160:82-88). He located a male and female of approximately the same stature as Mr. Monahan and R.C.. (160:88). The female sat in the driver's seat of the vehicle and the male in the passenger's seat; and photographs were taken. (160:88-89). The expert testified both were able to sit comfortably in the seats, and the female was easily able to use the brake and accelerator pedals and steering wheel. (160:89-91).

The trooper showed photographs of the brake and accelerator pedals and opined—though he had no specialized training in the matter—that there was a pattern of dirt on the pedal that looked more like the sole of Mr. Monahan's footwear than that of R.C.'s. (154:78-83). The forensic analyst from the state crime lab testified that on examining the pedals, she did not see any impression that she could conclusively say was a footwear impression. (160:44-45).

A DNA analysis was performed on certain portions of the car. The analyst, from the state crime lab, testified that the DNA of two different people was found on the driver's side airbag. (153:154). Kyle Monahan was the source of the major component of this DNA, but the source of the minor component could not be identified. (153:154-55). The state's trooper expert witness opined that R.C. would have been

thrown from the vehicle before the airbag deployed, while Mr. Monahan's testified that the "furrowing" closer to the beginning of the crash would have been sufficient to deploy the airbag. (155:85, 89-90; 160:121-22). Mr. Monahan's expert testified that given that there were two people in the car, it was likely that R.C. was the source of the other DNA on the airbag. (160:80).

In the end, the state's expert opined that Mr. Monahan had been driving the car, while Mr. Monahan's testified it was impossible to conclude from the available evidence whether he or R.C. had been driving. (154:136; 160:90).

Witnesses from the Leahy party

Linda Scott, a guest at the Leahy party, testified that she had seen Mr. Monahan and R.C. depart the gathering. (160:147). She testified that R.C. was driving, and she recalled Mr. Monahan giving her a "kind of goo-goo smile" from the passenger seat, which stuck in her mind because she thought it was sweet. (160:147-48).

Jason Scott, another guest, also testified that he saw R.C. and Mr. Monahan leaving the party. (160:157). He recalled saying goodbye to them as they walked toward her car, and then seeing R.C. get in on the driver's side, and Mr. Monahan on the passenger side. (160:157-58).

Mr. Monahan also testified. He told the jury that R.C. never let anyone drive her car, and that she told him (and others) that her grandparents gave it to her and she didn't want anyone driving it. (155:35). Mr. Monahan also recalled that R.C. was driving when the two left the Leahy farm. (155:41).

The excluded evidence

Using the same GPS data relied on by the state's expert, Mr. Monahan's expert determined the vehicle's speeds both on the trip to the Leahy farm and the trip from the farm to Shullsburg immediately before the crash. This data showed the vehicle traveling at high speeds for both trips. (51:27-28; 69:1-2; 155:35; 160:147-48, 157-58; App. 137-39). Specifically, the GPS data showed speeds of 79-82, 86, and 93 miles per hour on different stretches of the trip to the Leahy farm which began at 4:32 and ended at 4:40 p.m. (the posted speed limit was 55 miles per hour). (51:27-28; 69:1; App. 137-38). On the trip away from the Leahy farm and into Shullsburg, between 7:39 and 7:49 p.m., the GPS revealed speeds of 82 to 85, 86, and 102 to 105 miles per hour. (51:28; 69:2; App. 138). After a two-minute stop at Gratiot Street in Shullsburg, the vehicle headed out of town, reaching 97 and 117 to 120 miles per hour leading up to the crash at 7:54 p.m. (51:28-29, 69:2; App. 138-39).

Mr. Monahan sought to introduce this evidence to show that the same driver, R.C., was driving during each of these periods. (61:2-4, 8-9). The state sought to exclude it as "character" evidence and argued it was unfairly prejudicial. (149:35). The circuit court excluded it at a pretrial hearing, concluding that it was inadmissible other-acts evidence under *State v. Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998). (149:38-39, 45; App. 126-27, 133). Mr. Monahan moved the court to reconsider, submitting that the GPS information fell under the exception for evidence offered to show identity. (70:2; 150:23). He also argued that the driving in the minutes leading up to the accident was part of a single act; "a continuum of the conduct [which] lasted more than the final 3 minutes and 27 seconds. To exclude it until the final

journey will deprive the jury of important context it needs to make its decision." (70:3; 150:23). Mr. Monahan finally argued that excluding the evidence would deny his constitutional right to present relevant evidence in his defense. (70:3; 150:21). The court denied the motion. It held that the "continuum" of conduct commenced only after the vehicle's stop at Gratiot Street a few minutes before the crash; and that all evidence of speed before that time would be excluded. (150:25-27; 80; App. 134-36).

The closing argument

During closing, the state argued that Mr. Monahan and R.C. must have switched positions after leaving the Leahy party during the two-minute stop in Shullsburg, saying "[t]he evidence if there was a switch would come and all the evidence we've gathered post-crash is that, in fact, it was the defendant behind the wheel. The evidence of the seat position, DNA. How could there not have been a switch? There is definitely evidence of it." (156:84-85).

The state also twice argued to the jury that, being unfamiliar with the roads in the area, R.C. would never have driven on them as fast as the vehicle was traveling before the crash:

So using your common sense, you need to ask yourself, does it make sense that a young girl who doesn't know the area is driving on some rural road and driving, no less, after she'd been drinking at speeds of 40 to 50 miles per hour over the speed limit? That doesn't make sense. So we've got that. Using your common sense, that tells you it's the defendant behind the wheel.

(156:32).

If it's [R.C.] who was driving that night, again we'd have to believe she's driving on that rural country road in a place she's not familiar with on a road she's not familiar with. Despite the fact that she's not familiar with that road, we have to believe that she's traveling—after having some drinks, traveling 40 to 50 miles per hour over the speed limit on a road she has no experience or familiarity with.

(156:44-45).

The jury convicted Mr. Monahan of three counts related to R.C.'s death. (110). The court subsequently dismissed two of the counts as barred by statute and multiplicitous. (157:3-7). On the remaining count the court sentenced Mr. Monahan to 20 years of imprisonment, with 10 years of initial confinement and 10 years of extended supervision. (132). Mr. Monahan filed a postconviction motion to eliminate the DNA surcharge, which was granted. (161; 178). Mr. Monahan filed a notice of appeal. (171).

In the court of appeals, Mr. Monahan renewed his arguments that the pre-stop GPS evidence should have been admitted for three reasons: that it was not "other acts" evidence at all, but was instead part of a continuum of acts relevant to the crime; that even if it was "other acts" evidence, it was admissible to show identity; and finally, that even if the evidence was inadmissible under Wisconsin rules, excluding it violated Mr. Monahan's constitutional right to present a defense.

The state conceded that the evidence was admissible, and that the trial court erred by keeping it out. Respondent's

¹ The state also cross-appealed the order removing the DNA surcharge. The state prevailed on this issue in the court of appeals and Mr. Monahan did not ask this court to review the issue.

Brief at 2. However, it argued that this error was harmless in light of other evidence presented at trial.

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