# **RECEIVED**

## STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-12-2018

# IN SUPREME COURT CHARGE COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2014AP2187-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Cross-Appellant,

v.

KYLE LEE MONAHAN,

Defendant-Appellant-Cross-Respondent-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE LAFAYETTE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE WILLIAM D. JOHNSTON, PRESIDING

## BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-CROSS-APPELLANT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009170

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Cross-Appellant

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

The defense evidence. In addition to his crash reconstruction expert, who could say only that he could not tell who the driver was (R. 160:95, 135), Monahan put on several witnesses in an attempt to show that Ms. Cushman was driving at the time of the crash. Their testimony fell far short of accomplishing that goal.

Linda Scott testified that Ms. Cushman was driving when Cushman and Monahan left the Leahy residence. (R. 160:147–48.) But her testimony was undermined considerably by her description of the vehicle: she described it as "a small little sports car." (*Id.*) In fact, Ms. Cushman's car was a 2001 Saab 9-5 station wagon. (R. 160:82.) The jury was shown a picture of the intact 2001 Saab 9-5 station

wagon that Mr. Erdtmann used in his demonstration (R. 101:Exhibit 134; 160:82)<sup>4</sup>, and by no stretch of the English language could that station wagon be described as a "small little sports car."

Jason Scott testified that when Monahan and Cushman left the party, they walked past him and exchanged greetings, walked to the vehicle, and that she got in the driver's side and that they drove off. (R. 160:157.) Mr. Scott gave varying estimates of how far away Monahan and Ms. Cushman were when they got in the car, ranging from 100 feet to 200 feet to 100 yards before testifying that the distance was that from the witness seat to the back of the courtroom. (R. 160:160.)

Mr. Scott's testimony not only was inconsistent with respect to how far away Monahan and Ms. Cushman were when he saw them get in the car, it also conflicted with Monahan's testimony about what happened when he and Ms. Cushman left the Leahy residence. Monahan testified that at some point Ms. Cushman had wandered away from him and he went looking for her. (R. 155:40.) Someone told

4

Exemplar 2001 Saab 9-5 Saab Wagon





Erdtmann photo: 0119 JPG (8/9/2013)

him that she was sitting in her car. (*Id*.) He went to her and asked her what was going on and whether she was bored. (R. 155:40–41.) She told him that she was tired and wanted to go. (R. 155:41.) He said that they could go "[a]nd then I hopped in and we left." (*Id*.)

Monahan testified that Ms. Cushman was driving when they left the Leahy residence. (R. 155:41.) But he did not testify that she was driving between the stop in Shullsburg and the point where the car went off the road. Rather, he testified that he did not recall anything between the time they left the Leahy party and waking up in the hospital. (R. 155:41–42.)

The excluded evidence. The trial court excluded GPS evidence regarding the vehicle's speed between the time it left Shullsburg at about 4:23 p.m. and its arrival at the party at the Leahy residence at 4:39 p.m. and between the time it left the Leahy residence at 7:39 p.m. and its arrival in Shullsburg at 7:49 p.m. (R. 61:1-4; R. 149:38-39, 45, Pet-App. 126–27, 133.) Monahan argues that evidence that Ms. Cushman "was driving her car at 80, 90, and 100 miles per hour a few minutes before that car left the road at 90 miles per hour" was relevant "because it shows she was driving at high speeds in the moments before her car crashed at high speed." (Monahan's Br. 17.) But even if the jury would infer from the GPS evidence that Ms. Cushman also drove very fast, that would have no impact on all of the other evidence that proved that Monahan was driving at the time of the crash.

The State recognizes that the prosecutor, in her closing argument, argued that it made no sense for Ms. Cushman, who was unfamiliar with the area, to have been driving at speeds of 40 to 50 miles an hour over the speed limit. (R. 156:32, 44–45.) If the jury believed the

Scotts' testimony that Ms. Cushman was driving when she and Monahan left the Leahy residence, evidence that the car was being driven very fast between the Leahy residence and Shullsburg would have undercut the inference the prosecutor was asking the jury to draw. But the prosecutor also told the jurors that they did not "have to just rely on your common sense. We obviously had to put on evidence to meet our burden, and we did that." (R. 156:32.) The prosecutor then explained at length and in detail why the evidence, including the crash reconstruction evidence, the seat position evidence, the DNA evidence, and Monahan's own statements, satisfied the State's burden. (R. 156:32–48.)6

This Court held in *State v. Hale*, 2005 WI 7, 277 Wis. 2d 593, 691 N.W.2d 637, that the admission of inculpatory evidence in violation of the defendant's right to confrontation was harmless error even though the prosecutor referred to that evidence "twice during opening statements, four times during closing argument, and once again during rebuttal." *Id.* ¶ 62. The Court determined that the error was harmless because "the nature of the references was brief" and the improperly admitted evidence "was not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Monahan was the only witness who testified that Ms. Cushman was driving the car when they drove from Shullsburg to the Leahy residence. (R. 155:35.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The State notes that the assistant attorney general who delivered the closing argument was not part of the prosecution team when the circuit court excluded the GPS evidence; her first appearance for the State was at trial. (R. 149:1–2; 150:1, 3; 151:1, 5–6.) Although it has no bearing on the harmless error analysis, the State did not intentionally "exploit" the absence of the excluded evidence.

particularly important to the determination of [the defendant's] guilt."  $Id. \ \P \ 63$ .

So, too, in this case, the prosecutor's comments that Ms. Cushman would not be driving well over the speed limit because she was unfamiliar with the rural road were brief: 15 transcript lines (R. 156:32, 44–45) out of 24 pages of the prosecutor's closing argument (R. 156:23–28) and no mention at all in 11 pages of rebuttal argument (R. 156:82–93). Moreover, those comments were not important to the determination of Monahan's guilt because the prosecutor argued that even if the jury believed that Ms. Cushman was driving when she and Monahan left the Leahy party, the GPS evidence showed that there was a two-minute stop in Shullsburg and that other evidence, including Monahan's statements, the seat position, and the DNA, showed that Monahan had been driving when the car crashed (R. 156:84–85).

Monahan argues that because the GPS speed evidence was excluded, "the jury heard the state's story, but not Mr. Monahan's." (Monahan's Br. 29.) But the speed evidence, though relevant, would not have been particularly probative in light of all of the other evidence that demonstrated that Monahan was driving the car at the time of the fatal crash. As the court of appeals correctly concluded, "considering the trial as a whole, . . . even if the jury heard the excluded GPS data evidence, the GPS data would have paled in comparison to the strong evidence that Monahan was driving at the time of the accident." *Monahan*, 2017 WL 1504259, ¶ 40, Pet-App. 116.

Given the nature and the strength of the State's case, it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have convicted Monahan even if it had heard the excluded evidence about the speed of the vehicle. This court should

conclude, therefore, that the exclusion of the GPS speed evidence was harmless error.

# III. Monahan's argument relies on an erroneous characterization of harmless error review.

Monahan's argument that the exclusion of the GPS evidence was not harmless is based on an incorrect understanding of harmless error law. He begins correctly by citing this Court's statement in State v. Martin, 2012 WI 96, ¶ 45, 343 Wis. 2d 278, 816 N.W.2d 270, that, to find an error harmless, "this court must be satisfied, beyond a reasonable doubt, not that the jury could have convicted the defendant ... but rather that the jury would have arrived at the same verdict had the error not occurred." (See Monahan's Br. 24.) But his argument goes off course when he states that because "a jury is free to choose among reasonable inferences," "to find a trial error harmless, an appellate court must be convinced that there is no set of reasonable inferences a jury could draw that would create a reasonable doubt of guilt." (Id. 24-25.) "Stated another way," Monahan asserts, "the question is whether the evidence permits any set of reasonable inferences consistent with reasonable doubt—when viewed in the light most favorable to the defendant." (Id. 25.)

There are several flaws in Monahan's contention that a court making a harmless error determination must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant.

1. The only case that he cites to support that argument, *State v. Mendoza*, 80 Wis. 2d 122, 258 N.W.2d 260 (1977), is not a harmless error case. Rather, the issue in *Mendoza* was whether the trial court erred when it refused the defendant's request for jury instructions on lesserincluded offenses. *See id.* at 131. This Court held that

"neither the trial court nor this court may, under the law, look to the 'totality' of the evidence . . . in determining whether the instruction was warranted." *Id.* at 152. "To do so," the Court held, "would require the court to weight the evidence accepting one version of facts, rejecting another and thus invade the province of the jury." *Id.* The question "is not what the totality of the evidence reveals but rather, whether a reasonable construction of the evidence will support the defendant's theory viewed in the most favorable light it will reasonably admit of from the standpoint of the accused." *Id.* at 153 (quotation marks omitted).

This "minimal quantum of 'some evidence" remains the standard for determining whether a defendant is entitled to a requested jury instruction. *State v. Stietz*, 2017 WI 58, ¶ 59, 375 Wis. 2d 572, 895 N.W.2d 796. It is not, however, the standard for determining harmless error.

2. Under Monahan's "most favorable light" formulation of the harmless error test, which requires only "whether a jury could draw reasonable inferences favorable to the defendant" (Monahan's Br. 29), cases in which a court could determine that an error was harmless would be virtually non-existent, if for no other reason that a jury in any case *could* decide not to believe the prosecution's witnesses. But, as both this Court and the United States Supreme Court have observed, "[t]o set a barrier so high that it could never be surmounted would justify the very criticism that spawned the harmless-error doctrine in the first place: Reversal for error, regardless of its effect on the judgment, encourages litigants to abuse the judicial process and bestirs the public to ridicule it." Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 18 (1999) (quoting R. Traynor, The Riddle of Harmless Error 50 (1970)); State v. Harvey, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 46, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189 (same).

3. Monahan makes no attempt to reconcile his "most favorable light" standard with this Court's recognition that the nature and overall strength of the State's case are appropriate factors to consider in a harmless error analysis. See Hunt, 360 Wis. 2d 576, ¶ 27; Hale, 277 Wis. 2d 593, ¶ 61. Indeed, Monahan's brief does not acknowledge that those are proper factors for a court to consider. (See Monahan's Br. 14–30.)

In two recent cases, this Court has held that a trial error was harmless based on the strength of the State's case. In *State v. Anthony*, 2015 WI 20, 361 Wis. 2d 116, 860 N.W.2d 10, the defendant was charged with first-degree intentional homicide. Id. ¶ 4. To support his claim of self-defense, the defendant intended to testify at trial. Id. ¶ 2. But the trial court refused to allow him to testify because he insisted that when he testified, he would disobey the court's evidentiary ruling. Id. ¶¶ 2–7.

This Court held that even if the trial court erred when it prohibited the defendant from testifying in his own defense, that error was harmless. Id. ¶ 102. The Court noted that a reviewing court should consider "(1) the importance of the defendant's testimony to the defense case; (2) the cumulative nature of the testimony; (3) the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the defendant on material points; and (4) the overall strength of the prosecution's case" when determining whether the denial of the right to testify was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. ¶ 102.

This Court said that "[t]he first two factors weigh in [the defendant's] favor, as it is clear that [his] self-defense testimony was important to his defense, and no other witness could have provided that evidence. *Id.* ¶ 103. "As a

result, [the defendant] had no way to rebut the State's allegation that he intentionally killed [the victim]." *Id*.

"However," the Court held, "the latter two factors clearly favor the State, and, in our view, tip the scales in support of harmless error." *Id.* ¶ 104. The Court reached that conclusion because "the evidence of [the defendant's] guilt was substantial" and "[t]he majority of evidence presented at trial contradicted [his] self-defense theory, thereby contributing to the overall strength of the State's case." *Id.*; *see also id.* ¶ 110 (A.W. Bradley, J., concurring) (agreeing with the majority that "any error was harmless" because "[t]he evidence of the defendant's guilt was substantial").

This Court reached the same conclusion in *State v. Nelson*, 2014 WI 70, 355 Wis. 2d 722, 849 N.W.2d 317. The defendant in *Nelson* was convicted following a jury trial of sexual assault of a child. *Id.* ¶ 1. The trial court precluded her from testifying because, although she wanted to challenge the victim's description of how the sexual assaults occurred, her testimony was not relevant to the elements the State needed to prove. *Id.* ¶¶ 15–16.

The State conceded on appeal that the circuit court had erred when it precluded the defendant from testifying. *Id.* ¶ 21. This Court did not decide that issue because it determined that the error was harmless. *Id.* ¶¶ 21, 23.

The Court noted that the defendant "wished to offer a different account of the timing of the events and testify that she did not unbuckle [the victim's] pants," though she did not intend to deny that "she had sexual intercourse with [the victim] on three separate occasions and that she knew he was under the age of 16." *Id.* ¶ 48. Rather, the sole theory of

the defense was to put the State to its burden of proving her guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. ¶ 49.

The Court acknowledged that "[i]nterjecting an alternative version of events may have made it more difficult for a jury to find [the defendant] guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. ¶ 49. "For instance," the Court noted, "it could have cast doubt on [the victim's] ability to accurately recall the assaults." Id. But, the Court held, the error was harmless because "the jury could have convicted [the defendant] even if its members did not agree on the timing of the events or who unbuckled [the victim's] pants" and because of "the overwhelming strength of the prosecution's case." Id. ¶¶ 50, 51.

Other cases in which this Court has held that trial error was harmless based on the strength of the State's case include *State v. Brecht*, 143 Wis. 2d 297, 319, 421 N.W.2d 96 (1988) ("[G]iven the infrequency of the references in the context of the entire trial and the strength of the State's evidence against Brecht, the State's references to Brecht's silence were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt."), *State v. Grant*, 139 Wis. 2d 45, 53–54, 406 N.W.2d 744 (1987) ("Viewing the error in the context of the entire trial, and considering the strength of the untainted evidence, we conclude that the error was harmless."), and *State v. Fishnick*, 127 Wis. 2d 247, 267, 378 N.W.2d 272 (1985) (holding that the erroneous admission of other-acts evidence was harmless based on "[t]he strength of the untainted evidence").

Monahan's contention that "[a]n appellate court should find an error harmless only if there is no set of reasonable inferences that could give rise to reasonable doubt" (Monahan's Br. 15) conflicts with this Court's recognition that the nature and strength of the State's case

not only are relevant to the harmless error analysis but may in some cases be determinative. In this case, the probative value of the excluded evidence was minor compared to the strength of the State's case. Accordingly, this Court should conclude that the erroneous exclusion of the GPS evidence was harmless.

## CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should affirm the decision of the court of appeals affirming the judgment of conviction.